ADHERENCE TO GUIDELINE MANDATED OPTIMAL MEDICAL THERAPY FOR ACUTE CORONARY SYNDROME AT CHARLOTTE MAXEKE JOHANNESBURG ACADEMIC HOSPITAL

Dr. Viwe Mtwesi

A dissertation submitted to the Wits Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medicine

(MMed) in the Division of Internal Medicine.

Johannesburg, 2020

DECLARATION OF CANDIDATE

I, **Viwe Mtwesi**, hereby declare that this dissertation is my own work. It is being submitted for the degree of the Master of Medicine in the Division of Internal Medicine, University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted for any degree/examination at this or any other university.

Signature:

Date:

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my late grandmother Nowini Radie Mtwesi, mother Vuyokazi

Mtwesi, brother Mandisi Mtwesi, nephews Tiri and Amahle, and finally to my

spiritual father Bishop Freddie Edwards for being my pillar of strength.

I am grateful to all of you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you, God Almighty for the blessings, guidance and wisdom.

My sincere gratitude goes out to my supervisors, Professor P. Manga and Dr A. Vachiat, for having provided this opportunity, the necessary infrastructure, and resources to complete my research. I appreciate their insightful comments, guidance, and invaluable constructive criticism.

I am also grateful for the support, encouragement, and attention provided by Prof C. Menezes. I am also grateful to Professor N Tsabedze for helping me with the editing of this document.

I am thankful to Lindsay McCutcheon, Vivienne Paton, and the Cardiology Database and Health Records Department staff at the Charlotte Maxeke Academic Hospital for their contribution of data collection and research.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge my family and spiritual father. Thank you for all the time you have taken to support me.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
TABLE OF CONTENTS	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	VI
LIST OF TABLES	VII
ABBREVIATIONS	VIII
ABSTRACT	IX
CHAPTER 1	1
1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 BACKGROUND	1
1.2 RISK FACTORS FOR CORONARY ARTERY DISEASE (CAD)	2
1.2.1 Modifiable Risk Factors	3
1.2.2 Non-Modifiable Risk Factors	7
1.3 CLINICAL PRESENTATION	8
1.4 RISK STRATIFICATION	8
1.5 INVESTIGATIONS	9
1.5.1 Electrocardiogram	9
1.5.2 Blood investigations	10
1.6 MANAGEMENT OF ACS	11
CHAPTER 2	15
2.0 HYPOTHESIS, CLINICAL SETTING, AND AIMS OF THE STUDY	15
2.1 CLINICAL SETTING OF THE STUDY	15
2.2 ETHICAL APPROVAL	15

2.3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	15
CHAPTER 3	16
3.1 METHODS	16
3.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	16
CHAPTER 4	17
4.0 RESULTS	17
4.1 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	17
CHAPTER 5	27
5.1 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	27
5.2 STUDY LIMITATIONS	32
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	
Appendix 1 Data collection sheet	43
Appendix 2 Ethics approval	47

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Percentage distribution of the three types of acute coronary syndrome (n =	= 1073) 18
Figure 2: Risk factors associated with ACS.	19
Figure 3: Commonly used therapeutic drugs in the management of ACS	21

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: ECG Manifestation of Acute Myocardial Ischaemia	9
Table 2: Sociodemographic characteristics	17
Table 3 : Laboratory investigations in acute coronary syndrome patients	18
Table 4 : Association between risk factors and diagnosis	20
Table 5: Association between the treatment and diagnosis of patients and ACS	22
Table 6 : Association between treatment and the death of ACS patients	23
Table 7: Descriptive statistics for age at incident for ACS patients, according to drugs	25
Table 8: Descriptive statistics for creatinine and drug therapy	25
Table 9 : Association between gender and drug prescription	26

ABBREVIATIONS

ACE	: Angiotensin-converting enzyme
ACS	: Acute coronary syndrome
AMI	: Acute myocardial infarction
AF	: Atrial fibrillation
CABG	: Coronary artery bypass graft surgery
CAD	: Coronary Artery Disease
СМЈАН	: Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital
CKD	: Chronic kidney disease
ECG	: Electrocardiogram
HDL	: High-density lipoprotein
HIV	: Human immunodeficiency virus
IQR	: Interquartile range
LBBB	: Left bundle branch block
LDL	: Low-density lipoprotein
MI	: Myocardial infarction
NHLS	: National Health Laboratory Service
NSTEMI	: Non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction
PCI	: Percutaneous coronary intervention
SD	: Standard deviation
STEMI	: ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction
UA	: Unstable angina

ABSTRACT

Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is the leading cause of death worldwide. Optimal medical therapy significantly reduces mortality resulting from ACS. Adherence to guideline medical mandatory therapy has been demonstrated to be suboptimal in most parts of the world, especially in developing countries. The current study assesses the effects of adhering to guideline mandatory therapy on the outcome in patients presenting with ACS.

METHODS

This is a retrospective record review of 1073 patients, who presented with ACS, admitted to the Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital (CMJAH), from January 2013 to December 2014. Patients were over the age of 18. Records were retrieved from an existing database in the Cardiology Department. The use of commonly used prescribed medication was assessed, which included aspirin, statins, beta blockers, clopidogrel, ACE inhibitors, and spironolactone.

RESULTS

The majority of the patients were male (73.3%). The racial demographics of the patients were as follows: 46% were White, 22.8% were Indian, 19.8% were Black, and 10.3% were Coloured. STEMI was the most common presentation (52%), followed by unstable angina (30%), and NSTEMI (18%). Aspirin was the most prescribed drug at 85%, followed by statins, beta blockers, clopidogrel, ACE inhibitors, and spironolactone at 84%, 79%, 74%, 54% and 38% respectively. Creatinine levels were indirectly associated with the prescription of ACE inhibitors and clopidogrel. Age and gender were also found to influence drug prescription. The survival rates for the CMJAH admitted ACS patients on optimal medical therapy were high, at 96%, which was statistically significantly. Upon discharge, there was a 4% in-hospital mortality rate from ACS.

CONCLUSION

ACS presents most commonly as STEMI. Almost three-quarters of the ACS patients were males. There was a strong correlation between the use of guideline mandated therapy and reduced mortality rates. The findings of this study reinforce the need for proper diagnosis and appropriate medical treatment to improve the life expectancy of ACS patients.

1. INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 BACKGROUND

Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) encompasses a group of clinical disorders that include STelevation myocardial infarction (STEMI), non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI), and unstable angina (UA). These develop due to the partial or total occlusion of the coronary vasculature (Kumar & Cannon, 2009). These usually occur in the presence of underlying chronic atheromatous coronary disease, where an exacerbation may give rise to ischaemia or infarction (Davies, 2000). Atherosclerosis plays a vital role in the development of ACS. However, there are instances where patients may develop ACS in the absence of atherosclerosis. These include dissection, arteritis, myocardial bridging, and vasospasm (Fox et al., 2007).

The process of atherosclerosis starts early in life as a 'fatty streak,' which progresses with time. When a patient develops risk factors for atherosclerosis, the endothelium changes its function, from an antiatherogenic endothelial state to a proatherogenic state. The dysfunctional endothelium exposes adhesion and vascular proteins, which in turn activate monocytes, leading to macrophage formation. Dysfunctional endothelium also promotes platelet aggregation and the release of cytokines, which ultimately cause penetration and deposition of circulating lipids into the intima (Fox et al., 2007; Santos-Gallego, Picatoste & Badimón, 2014).

Thrombosis in the coronary arteries is caused by plaque rupture and fissuring, thus leading to partial or total vessel occlusion (Fuster et al., 1992; Shah, 2003).

Myocardial infarction (MI) is defined by the presence of myocardial cell necrosis due to decreased myocardial blood supply. The diagnosis requires elevation of cardiac biomarkers,

electrocardiographic (ECG) changes and symptoms according to the universal definition of MI (Virmani et al., 2006; Thygesen et al., 2007).

The pathological diagnosis is divided into five types:

Type 1: Spontaneous MI – due to atheromatous plaque rupture

Type 2: Usually secondary to increased oxygen demand

Type 3: Myocardial infarction causing sudden death

Type 4a: Related to percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)

Type 4b: Caused by stent thrombosis

Type 5: Related to Coronary artery bypass grafting

ACS is accelerated by age, menopause, hypertension, diabetes, smoking, genetic risk, human immunodeficiency virus, renal failure, rheumatoid arthritis, and certain recreational drugs (Yusuf et al., 2004a). Coronary artery disease (CAD) remains the leading cause of death worldwide (Cade & Margetts, 1989), contributing to about a third of all mortalities in the adult population (Thom Thomas et al., 2006; Roger Véronique L. et al., 2011; Nichols et al., 2014). There is an increase in the incidence of non-communicable diseases in general in Africa (Cade & Margetts, 1989). In 2005, CAD was the eighth leading cause of death in Africa, and it is predicted that by 2020, seven out of 10 deaths in Africa will be due to non-communicable diseases (Boutayeb, 2006). Studies from South Africa, a country in an epidemiological transition, shows cardiovascular mortality as the second leading cause of death after human immunodeficiency virus related deaths (Manga, 2008; Peer et al., 2008).

1.2 Risk factors for Coronary Artery Disease (CAD)

Over 90% of the population have at least one risk factor; more than 75% of patients presenting with CAD have major risk factors, which include cigarette smoking, dyslipidaemia, high blood pressure, and diabetes.

1.2.1 Modifiable Risk Factors

Smoking

The majority of the estimated 1.3 billion smokers globally come from developing countries. Smoking is responsible for six million deaths worldwide. In America, it accounts for approximately 400,000 deaths annually (Ambrose & Barua, 2004). It is estimated that smoking will kill approximately eight million people by 2030. Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, lung malignancy, and chronic obstructive airway disease are the leading causes of smoking related deaths (Jee et al., 1999).

Smoking is an independent risk factor for CAD and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. The incidence of ACS is increased threefold in males and six fold in females who smoke approximately 20 cigarettes per day (Yusuf et al., 2004a). Myocardial infarction patients who continue to smoke have higher rates of re-infarction and death. These patients also have a higher risk of STEMI and restenosis (World Health Organization, 2012). Those with LV dysfunction who continue to smoke have an increased rate of myocardial infarction, death, and rehospitalisation (Yusuf et al., 2004a).

Smoking accelerates atherosclerosis by 50%, thus indicating an exponential relationship between MI and smoking. If a patient stops smoking, the process continues, but at a slower rate (Stamler et al., 1999; Vasan et al., 2005). Smoking is associated with an increase in LDL cholesterol and insulin resistance. The free radicals in cigarettes damage lipids and result in the formation of proatherogenic oxidised particles. It also increases activity of the sympathetic nervous system; this results in coronary vasoconstriction, which enhances the prothrombotic state via inhibition of tissue plasminogen activator release from the endothelium (Stamler et al., 1999; Reaven, 2003).

Patients, who undergo percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) and continue to smoke, have a higher risk of major adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Reaven, 2003). The dose and duration of smoking have very important mortality implications. Doses as low as five cigarettes per day portend an increased risk of coronary heart disease (Barbash G I et al., 1993; Reaven, 2003; Ruiz-Bailén et al., 2004). Patients who smoked 15 cigarettes per day had a 2.5-fold risk of CAD compared to non-smokers, and those who smoked less than 15 cigarettes had double the risk of non-smokers (van Domburg et al., 2000).

Passive smoking is also a risk for CAD, with an increased risk of 20% for coronary artery disease and death (van Domburg et al., 2000). Cigars contain the same toxins as cigarettes and thus they also convey some cardiovascular risk. Five cigars are equivalent to ten cigarettes (Wells, 1994). Pipe smoking is also associated with increased cardiovascular risk (Santo-Tomas et al., 2002).

Diet

Different food types can also contribute towards developing coronary artery disease. What we know is that higher intake of red meat and dairy products increases the risk of CAD. A study done on healthcare professionals showed a linear relationship with red meat intake and mortality due to CAD (Pan et al., 2012). Diets rich in fruit and vegetables are associated with a decrease the incidence of CAD. In the INTERHEART study lack of fruit and vegetable intake accounted for 14% of the attributable risk to first CAD presentation (Rimm et al., 1996; Yusuf et al., 2004a). Fibre intake has been also shown to decrease CAD. In a study done on health professionals, a10g increase in the total daily fibre intake was associated with reduced risk of myocardial infarction (Rimm et al., 1996). Diets high in glycaemic load may also contribute to the risk of CAD, mainly by increasing body weight and risk of insulin resistance especially in women (Mirrahimi Arash et al., n.d.).

4

Exercise

Exercise has a protective effect against development of CAD and death (Oster & Epstein, 1987; Powell et al., 1987). Exercise decreases the incidence of CAD through weight loss benefits, increasing HDL levels, decreasing insulin resistance, and decreasing blood pressure (Sandvik et al., 1993). In the INTERHEART study, lack of regular exercise accounted for 12% of the population attributable risk of a first CAD event (Yusuf et al., 2004a). Combination training, gave greater benefits for weight loss, fat loss and cardio-respiratory fitness than aerobic or resistance training modalities (Ho et al., 2012).

Obesity

A body mass index (BMI) above 30 defines obesity. It is an independent risk factor for CAD (Wilson Peter W.F. et al., 2008) and has a linear relationship with greater risk of CAD (Jensen Michael D. et al., 2014). Obesity is also associated with other risk factors for atherosclerosis like diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidaemia, factors which are fundamental in CAD development (Eckel Robert H. et al., 2004).

Psychosocial factors

These factors are believed to trigger early development of CAD directly through endothelial dysfunction or indirectly by increasing traditional risk factors which in turn accelerate atherosclerosis (Rozanski Alan, Blumenthal James A. & Kaplan Jay, 1999).

Diabetes

Pre diabetic states, insulin resistance and elevated plasma glucose are associated with development of myocardial infarction (Zavaroni et al., 1989; Singer et al., 1992). A small study of 300 patients looked at looked at a relationship between uncontrolled glucose and

development of myocardial infarction, and the found that a moderately increased glucose level was associated with a higher risk of developing myocardial infarction in patients with no prior diagnosis of diabetes (Gerstein, 1999).

The INTERHEART study described diabetes to be contributing to 10% of the population attributable risk for myocardial infarction (Yusuf et al., 2004a). It has been referred to as coronary disease equivalent (Vaccaro et al., 2004).

Guidelines advocate for aggressive treatment and prevention of CAD risk factors like hypertension and dyslipidaemia in patients with diabetes ("Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) Final Report", 2002).

High blood pressure

High blood pressure is a well-established risk factor for cardiovascular diseases and outcomes (Miura et al., 2001). In a cohort of more than 1.25 million patients (20% with hypertension) without baseline cardiovascular diseases, showed that patients with hypertension had a 63.3% lifetime risk of cardiovascular diseases compared to 46.1% risk in patients with no hypertension (Rapsomaniki et al., 2014).

In the INTERHEART study hypertension contributed to 18% of the population attributable risk for first myocardial infarct (Yusuf et al., 2004a). Variations in blood pressure were also found to be associated with high risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality (Muntner et al., 2015).

Dyslipidaemia

Accelerated atherosclerosis accounts for 49% of the population attributable risk for first myocardial infarction (Yusuf et al., 2004b). The prevalence of dyslipidaemia is high in patients with premature CAD with one study reporting a prevalence of dyslipidaemia as high as 75-85% compared with 40-48% in aged matched controls without CAD (Genest J J et al., 1992).

1.2.2 Non-Modifiable Risk Factors

Age and Gender

After adjusting for traditional risk factors, age still remains a significant risk for cardiovascular diseases (Dhingra & Vasan, 2012). Modifiable risk factors for CAD increase as the individual gets older, reaching a 45-50% increase for men (Larsson et al., 1992). CAD risk was found to be 3 times higher in men compared to women and mortality was also 5 times higher in men (Jousilahti Pekka et al., 1999).

Family History

Family history is an independent risk factor, especially in individuals with family history of premature CAD (Sesso Howard D. et al., 2001). Significant family history is defined by presence of cardiovascular disease in first degree relatives of any age or any other manifestation of atherosclerosis other than CAD (Patel et al., 2018). Data from NHANES survey reported that 12.2% of adults have a parent or sibling with a heart attack or angina before the age of 50 years (Benjamin Emelia J. et al., 2017). The risk of developing CAD ranges from 15-100% in various cohorts (Patel et al., 2018).

Ethnicity

Certain races are at an increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease; namely, non-Hispanic whites, Asians, and African Americans (Yusuf et al., 2004a). However, globally, whites are more susceptible to ACS.

1.3 Clinical presentation

ACS is a medical emergency, which should prompt early diagnosis and identification of the patient, to allow for timely and appropriate treatment and intervention (Yun & Alpert, 1997). Since the symptoms of ACS are similar, this challenges physicians when attempting to establish the appropriate diagnosis, risk stratification, treatment decision making, and monitoring response to treatment(Smith & Whitwam, 2006). Each condition can manifest itself as chest pain, discomfort, referred pain, nausea, light-headedness, faintness, dyspnoea, fatigue, or sudden loss of consciousness. Patients presenting such symptoms are immediately considered for ACS diagnosis. Typical chest pain, also known as angina, is the most common symptom that should initiate a diagnostic and treatment cascade. Aching, pressure, tightness, or burning pain over the anterior chest may last more than 15 minutes and extend to the epigastrium, shoulders, arms, back, neck, or mandible (Yun & Alpert, 1997; Smith & Whitwam, 2006). Ischaemic chest pain can be identified by the following features: it is usually gradual in onset, precipitated by activity, it is described as a discomfort rather than pain, and usually radiates to different parts of the body, mostly the upper body (Fox et al., 2007).

1.4 Risk stratification

In a Canadian registry, treating physicians found that risk stratifying the patient was vital as it helped improve treatment intensity in high risk patients. Patients labelled as high risk were likely to receive reperfusion therapy. Validated risk scores enhanced risk stratification, which promotes appropriate intensive therapy. Before the use of validated risk scores, physicians used to objectively risk stratify patients. The problem was that most elderly patients were excluded. Elderly patients would have poor outcomes as they present atypically and would be incorrectly labelled as low risk. Risk stratification should be performed as soon as possible during admission and repeated just before discharge (Yan et al., 2009).

The most studied risk scores include the TIMI (Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction Score) and GRACE (Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events) score. The GRACE score performed much better than the TIMI score in stratifying ACS patients. The GRACE score predicts inhospital and six-month mortality in ACS patients. The TIMI risk score predicts mortality, new, or recurrent events, and severe recurrent events requiring intervention in 14 days (de Araújo Gonçalves et al., 2005). There are many other risk scores, however, the above are the most validated.

1.5 Investigations

1.5.1 Electrocardiogram

This is an important diagnostic tool in patients suspected to have ACS. Changes can occur in the ST-segment, T-wave, and the QRS complex. The Electrocardiogram (ECG) is also important in identifying the location of the infarct and identifying arrhythmias. In 2012, the European Society of Cardiology formulated the following ECG criteria for myocardial infarction.

 Table 1: ECG Manifestation of Acute Myocardial Ischaemia

ST ELEVATION

New ST-elevation at the J-point in two contiguous leads with the cut point: $\geq 0.1 \text{mV}$ in all leads other than leads V2-V3, where the following cut points apply: $\geq 0.2 \text{mV}$ in men $\geq 40 \text{years}$; $\geq 0.0.25 \text{mV}$ in men $\leq 40 \text{years}$, or $\geq 0.15 \text{mV}$ in women.

ST-depression and T-wave changes.

New horizontal or down-sloping ST depression ≥ 0.05 mV in two contiguous leads and/or T inversion ≥ 0.1 mV in two contiguous leads with prominent R wave or R/S ratio ≥ 1 .

The ECG also helps with anatomical diagnosis of the infarct.

Anterior MI: ST-elevation or Q-waves in the precordial leads, V1– V6, indicative of left anterior descending artery obstruction. If there is AVR elevation, complete right bundle brunch block, ST depression in lead V5 or ST elevation in V1, this is highly suggestive of proximal LAD occlusion.

Inferior MI: ST-elevation or Q-waves in leads II, III, and aVF usually have occlusion in the right coronary artery or left circumflex coronary artery. Presence of ST elevation in V1 and V4R is indicative of right ventricular infarct.

Lateral MI: ST-elevation in aVL, lead 1.

Posterior MI: tall R wave in V1, ST-elevation in the posterior leads V3-V9 (Camm et al., 2012).

1.5.2 Blood investigations

Biomarkers are measured to diagnose and risk stratify ACS. Myocardial infarction diagnosis is made when there is a rise or fall of cardiac troponins with at least one value above the 99th percentile of higher reference limit. The most important biomarkers of acute myocardial infarction are troponins and CKMB (Creatinine Kinase –Myocardial B). Cardiac troponins inform of infarct size, as they are at their highest within 12 hours, and stay high for up to 10 days. A positive troponin level is associated with an increased mortality and morbidity at 30

days. The rise of troponin can be seen in patients who do not have myocardial ischaemia, including myocarditis, renal failure, Takotsubo syndrome, pulmonary embolism, and heart failure (Aldous, 2013).

C-reactive protein: part of the process of CAD is driven by inflammation, hence the elevation of this marker. It is a marker of a poor prognosis (Griselli et al., 1999).

1.6 Management of ACS

Universal to the management of all subtypes of ACS is primary and secondary prevention therapy. This includes the use of beta blockers, statins, angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, and antiplatelet therapy. These drugs are, however, underutilised worldwide. Factors attributed to this include the economic status of the country, gender, age, and educational level (Shimony et al., 2014).

High income countries show better adherence to guideline mandated therapies. Yet, approximately 12% of patients do not take their prescribed therapy after an ACS event. In upper-middle income countries, as many as 59% of ACS patients do not take their secondary prevention therapy. Factors related to non-adherence include a poor level of education and a lack of good primary healthcare system (Shimony et al., 2014).

The management of ACS has improved over the years. In developed countries, this has resulted in a decrease in the mortality rates, reinfarction rates, strokes, and readmission within six months of an index event. In the United States, there has been an 18% reduction in mortality, reinfarction, and heart failure rates, however, the GRACE Registry reveals that management differs in hospitals according to geographical location and economic status (Fox et al., 2007). Old age, female sex, renal failure, and heart failure are associated with lower use of combination therapy, even in the absence of contraindications (Yan et al., 2009).

Medical therapy needs to be started promptly in all patients presenting with ACS. Antiplatelet therapy should be initiated as soon as the diagnosis is suspected. This intervention alone has been shown to improve outcomes in patients who receive revascularisation therapy as well as those simply on medical therapy (Gitt & Betriu, 2008).

The choice of optimal medical therapy is a very important predictor of outcome. All patients who have had an MI should be on aspirin, unless contraindicated due to prior allergic reactions. Aspirin, a COX-1 inhibitor, blocks the formation of thromboxane A2, which is responsible for platelet aggregation and thrombus formation. As part of primary and secondary prevention, it has been shown to decrease mortality by 15% and fatal MIs by 30% (Cairns et al., 1985; Antithrombotic Trialists' (ATT) Collaboration, 2009). Clopidogrel, another antiplatelet drug, has demonstrated mortality and morbidity benefits (Yusuf et al., 2001). It works through irreversibly binding to P2Y12 ADP receptors, resulting in platelet inhibition. Clopidogrel should be started as soon as the patient is admitted and continued for one year in patients who present with ACS (Cannon, 2002; Fox Keith A.A. et al., 2004).

Dual antiplatelet therapy has been shown to decrease the relative risk of death, non-fatal MIs, and stroke by 20% compared to aspirin alone (Chen et al., 2005).

Beta blockers are vital in ACS patients. When started early, they decrease or limit infarct size. They also reduce early mortality from ACS. Long term use of beta blockers has also been shown to decrease mortality. Patients with ACS should be placed on a beta blocker unless the patient has a heart rate of less than 50 beats per minute, is in heart failure, or has a low output state, heart block, or bronchospasm (Chen et al., 2005; Kontos et al., 2011). Angiotensin

converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors are indicated in all patients with ACS who have high blood pressure, diabetes, heart failure, or a left ventricular ejection fraction of less than 40%.

In patients with an ejection fraction of less than 40%, initiation of ACE inhibitors is associated with a 19% decrease in mortality (Swedberg et al., 1992; Pilote et al., 2004; Chen et al., 2005; Cannon et al., 2006). Contraindications to ACE inhibitors include severe renal dysfunction and allergic reactions, in which case the use of Angiotensin Receptor Blockers (ARB) is indicated.

Patients must be on lipid modifying agents or statins. These drugs should be started as soon as possible, and at higher doses, as higher doses are associated with better outcomes (Cannon et al., 2006). According to the South African dyslipidaemia guidelines, the target for LDL is to be less than 1.8 mmol/l in high risk patients (Klug et al., 2018).

Primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is most effective in patients who present timeously with STEMI (Windecker et al., 2014). Best results are achieved within the first 120 minutes from the onset of pain. However, there are benefits for patients presenting later, especially those patients with haemodynamic instability, ongoing chest pain, arrhythmias, and heart failure (Lim, Wee & Anantharaman, 2013; Windecker et al., 2014).

Where PCI facilities are not available or far away where significant delays are anticipated, patients should receive thrombolytic therapy (Windecker et al., 2014).

Fibrinolytic therapy is recommended within 12 hours of onset of the infarct, but the maximum benefit is achieved if administered in the first hour (Antman Elliott M. et al., 2004). The benefit of fibrinolytic therapy is in achieving TIMI 3 flow (normal epicardial flow), which occurs in 50%-60% compared to 93%-96% with primary PCI. Shortcomings of thrombolytic therapy include a 20%-30% risk of recurrence of ischaemia, 5%-15% rate of re-occlusion, and 3%-5% of reinfarction. Patients who have received thrombolytic therapy should delay PCI at least three

to 24 hours after therapy (Van de Werf et al., 2008). Urgent restoration of TIMI 3 flow in the coronary arteries is vital for myocardial salvage and mortality reduction (Van de Werf et al., 2008).

2.0 HYPOTHESIS, CLINICAL SETTING, AND AIMS OF THE STUDY 2.1 CLINICAL SETTING OF THE STUDY

This study was conducted at Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital (CMJAH), a tertiary institution affiliated to the University of Witwatersrand, between January 2013 and December 2014. This hospital provides healthcare to a large drainage area, including the northern and eastern suburbs of Johannesburg. CMJAH is a referral hospital for patients from several secondary hospitals including Helen Joseph, Edenvale, Leratong, Germiston, Far East Rand, and Natalspruit hospitals. Cardiology is one of the divisions in the Department of Internal Medicine at CMJAH and it admits about 10 patients per week with a diagnosis of ACS.

2.2 ETHICAL APPROVAL

Permission to access all the patient data at CMJAH was obtained from the Chief Executive Officer of the hospital and ethical approval to conduct the study was obtained from the Postgraduate Ethics Committee of Wits and the Committee for Research on Human Subjects, South Africa (Ethics Approval Number: M140615).

2.3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The main aim of the study was to investigate the effectiveness of adherence to guideline mandated optimal medical therapy for ACS.

The specific objectives of the study were to:

- 1) Determine the characteristics of patients presenting with ACS.
- 2) Determine the degree of adherence to guideline mandated therapy.
- 3) Determine the outcome of in-hospital patients with ACS.

3.1 METHODS

This is a retrospective study, which was conducted on patients diagnosed with ACS admitted to CMJAH from January 2013 to December 2014. The study cohort samples consisted of 1073 patients over 18 years of age. The patient records were retrieved from the Cardiology Database housed within the Division of Cardiology at CMJAH. Laboratory data were obtained from the National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS). Only the initial presentation data were taken into consideration for patients who presented more than once. Patients were identified by their hospital numbers, which were also used to track their blood results. All the above-mentioned reports were used to populate the datasheet in Appendix 1 and entered into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.

3.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

All the Microsoft Excel spreadsheet data was imported into STATA® (version 12.5, series 0414) for statistical analysis. Descriptive statistics were computed. The description of categorical variables was illustrated with numbers, percentages, and continuous variables with means and standard deviations (SDs). Medians with interquartile ranges (IQRs) were also used for variables with non-parametric distribution. Associations between categorical values and patient outcomes were assessed with the Pearson's chi square tests. The Student's t-test was used for continuous variables and comparison of independent groups. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

The analysis included a total of 1073 patients. There were 287 (26.7%) females and 786 (73.3%) males. Of these 1073 patients 46,9% of the patients were White, 22.8% were Indian, 19.8% were Black, and 10.3% were Coloured (**Table 2**).

		Frequency	Percent
	White	503	46.9%
	Indian	245	22.8%
Ethnicity (n=1073)	Black	212	19.8%
	Coloured	110	10.3%
	Unknown	3	0.3%
Gender (n=1073)	Female	287	26.7%
	Male	786	73.3%

Of the 1073 patients entered into the study the percentages of STEMI, NSTEMI and UA patients were 52%, 18% and 30%, respectively (Fig 1)



Figure 1: Percentage distribution of the three types of ACS (n = 1073)

The following important laboratory values were analysed in this cohort of patients (Table 3) The mean creatinine value was $115.42 \pm 131.23 \mu mol/l$. The average haemoglobin was 13.96 ± 2.21 g/dL, with a mean of 13.96 g/dL. The average HBA1c was $7.23 \pm 1.96\%$ g/dL, with a mean of 7.20% mg/dL. The average high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol level was 1.09 ± 0.54 mmol/l, with a mean of 1.09 mmol/l, while the mean low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol level was 2.68 ± 1.173 mmol/l. The total cholesterol level was found to be at a mean level of 4.60 ± 1.607 mmol/l.

	Ν	Reference ranges	Mean	Std. Deviation
Creatinine	1037	47-90umol/L	115.42	131.228
Haemoglobin	1018 12.1-16.3g/dL (females) 14.3-18.3g/dL (males)		13.96	2.209
HBA1c (%)	584	<7%	7.20	1.961
HDL	885	>1.2mmol/L (females) >1.0mmol/L (males)	1.09	0.538
LDL	863	<3.0mmol/L	2.68	1.173
Total Cholesterol	888		4.60	1.607

Table 3: Laboratory investigations in ACS patients

Hypertension, smoking, and dyslipidaemia were the leading risk factors for ACS, with a frequency of 62%, 52%, and 43%, respectively. Obesity and diabetes mellitus were only found in 28% of patients with ACS (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2: Risk factors associated with ACS.

Table 4 highlights the association of known risk factors (like hypertension, dyslipidaemia or smoking) with development of ACS (from STEMI, NSTEMI and UA) in our study population. Hypertension, dyslipidaemia and being a smoker at time of admission was significantly associated with the risk of developing ACS. However, there was no difference in the risk of ACS susceptibility in the obese vs. non-obese or diabetic vs. non-diabetic groups.

Risk factors			D			
		STEMI	STEMI NSTEMI UA Total		P-value	
Disketes Mellitus	Yes	27.3%	26.9%	28.7%	27.7%	
Diabetes Mellitus	No	72.7%	73.1%	71.3%	72.3%	.871
Hypertension	Yes	55.0%	64.8%	73.4%	62.3%	001
	No	45.0%	35.2%	26.6%	37.7%	.001
Dualinida amia	Yes	34.4%	43.0%	59.0%	43.4%	001
Dyslipidaemia	No	65.6%	57.0%	41.0%	56.6%	.001
Smoker	Yes	54.6%	57.5%	44.6%	52.1%	004
	No	45.4%	42.5%	55.4%	47.9%	.004
Obesity	Yes	28.2%	25.9%	30.3%	28.4%	550
	No	71.8%	74.1%	69.7%	71.6%	.559

Table 4: Association between risk factors and diagnosis

The most common medical therapy prescribed in the study group was aspirin, which was prescribed to 85% of the patients, followed by statins (84%), beta blockers (79%), clopidogrel (74%), ACE inhibitors (59%), and spironolactone (38%). (Fig 3)



Figure 3: Commonly used therapeutic drugs in the management of ACS.

Table 5 highlights the association of ACS diagnosis and medication prescribed in hospital. In this study cohort, all classes of drugs were significantly associated with receiving guideline recommended medication for ACS.

		NSTEMI	STEMI	UA	Total	p value
A ···	Yes	85.7%	90.7%	82.0%	85.5%	024
Aspinn	No	14.3%	9.3%	18.0%	14.5%	.024
Clanidagral	Yes	84.4%	85.0%	50.6%	74.3%	000
Ciopidogrei	No	15.6%	15.0%	49.4%	25.7%	.000
Data blackara	Yes	79.2%	85.9%	74.0%	78.8%	005
Deta Diockers	No	20.8%	14.1%	26.0%	21.2%	.005
Statin	Yes	81.7%	89.6%	83.1%	83.6%	027
Statin	No	18.3%	10.4%	16.9%	16.4%	.037
A oo inhihitoro	Yes	58.6%	68.4%	56.2%	59.6%	010
Ace inhibitors	No	41.4%	31.6%	43.8%	40.4%	.016
Spironolactone	Yes	44.0%	40.4%	29.0%	38.9%	000
	No	56.0%	59.6%	71.0%	61.1%	.000

 Table 5: Association between ACS diagnosis and receiving medication

Mortality was directly correlated to drug prescription (Table 6). Thus only 28.3% of patients who died were taking aspirin compared to 88% among the 1027 who survived (p<0.001), implying a strong association between taking aspirin and outcome. A similar association with death and the use of clopidogrel, beta blockers, ACE inhibitors and spironolactone was found (p<0.01)

Medication		Deceased		Total	
		Yes (n=46)	No (n=1027)	(n=1073)	P-value
Aspirin	Yes	28.3%	88.0%	85.5%	<0.001
	No	71.7%	12%	14.5%	
Clopidogrel	Yes	28.3%	76.3%	74.3%	<0.001
	No	71.7%	23.7%	25.7%	
Beta blockers	Yes	13.0%	81.8%	78.8%	<0.001
	No	87.0%	18.2%	21.2%	
Statins	Yes	26.1%	86.2%	83.6%	<0.001
	No	73.9%	13.8%	16.4%	
ACE inhibitors	Yes	6.5%	62.0%	59.6%	<0.001
	No	93.5%	38.0%	38.9%	
Spironolactone	Yes	4.3%	40.4%	38.9%	<0.001
_	No	95.7%	59.6%	61.1%	

Table 6: Association between treatment and the death of ACS patients

There was a significant interaction between the prescription of aspirin, clopidogrel, statins, ACE inhibitors, and age. Those who were on aspirin were on average were younger as compared to patients that were not on aspirin therapy $(58.7 \pm 11.9 \text{ years vs } 61.2 \pm 12.7; \text{ p-value} = 0.02)$. Patients on clopidogrel were also younger as compared to those not on clopidogrel (58.3 ± 11.9 vs 61.4 ± 12.6; p<0.001). Patients prescribed statins were also younger as compared to those not on statins (58.72 ± 12.083 vs 60.73 ± 12.220; p<0.04). This was also true for those prescribed ACE inhibitors (p<0.027).

It can be noted that in all cases younger patients were more likely to be prescribed guideline mandated therapy than older patients. However, a similar relationship did not hold for those receiving beta blockers and spironolactone therapy.

Drug			Age by drug			
		N	Mean	Std. Deviation	P-value	
Acnirin	Yes	914	58.70	11.990	040	
Aspinn	No	154	61.20	12.713	.018	
Clanidagral	Yes	793	58.26	11.862	000	
Clopidogrei	No	274	61.38	12.605	.000	
	Yes	841	58.91	11.971	.413	
Bela DIOCKETS	No	226	59.65	12.706		
Statins	Yes	891	58.72	12.083	.044	
	No	176	60.73	12.220		
Ace inhibitors	Yes	632	58.45	11.573	.027	
	No	428	60.13	12.748		
Spironolactone	Yes	407	58.16	12.309	.055	
	No	638	59.63	11.969		

Table 7: Descriptive statistics for age at incident for ACS patients, according to drugs

There was a significant relationship between the prescription of clopidogrel and creatinine levels. Those who were on clopidogrel had a lower average creatinine level compared to those not receiving clopidogrel ($105.9 \pm 88.9 \text{ vs}142.94 \pm 208$; p <0.006).

There was also a significant relationship between ACE inhibitors and creatinine levels. Patients on ACE inhibitors had an average creatinine value of $(105.58 \pm 90.257 \text{ vs } 130.24 \pm 175.429)$ for those not on ACE inhibitors.

There was, however, no significant relationship between creatinine level and prescription of the other drugs.

			Creatinin	e Results		
Drug		Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	P-value	
Aspirin	Yes	890	112.10	129.679	0.057	
	No	147	135.54	139.017		
Plavix	Yes	772	105.96	88.940	0.006	
	No	264	142.94	208.848		
Beta blockers	Yes	818	114.61	138.234	0.694	
	No	218	118.55	101.278		
Statins	Yes	868	112.04	130.120	0.066	
	No	168	133.13	136.187		
ACE inhibitors	Yes	617	105.58	90.257	0.009	
	No	412	130.24	175.429		
Spironolactone	Yes	399	112.96	110.285	0.622	
	No	615	117.15	145.046	0.025	

Table 8: Descriptive statistics for creatinine and drug therapy

There was a statistically significant (p<0.05) relationship between prescription of clopidogrel, beta blockers, spironolactone, and gender, with p-values of 0.004, 0.001, and 0.002, respectively.

There was no significant relationship with gender and the prescription of aspirin, statins, and ACE inhibitors since the p-values were greater than 0.05.

Variable	Category	Female (n=287)	Male (n=786)	Total (n=1073)	P-value	
Aspirin	Yes	81.9%	86.8%	85.5%	.0502	
	No	18.1%	13.2%	14.5%		
Clopidogrel	Yes	67.8%	76.6%	74.3%	.004	
	No	32.2%	23.4%	25.7%		
Pote blockers	Yes	72.0%	81.3%	78.8%	.001	
Deta Diockeis	No	28.0%	18.7%	21.2%		
Statins	Yes	80.8%	84.6%	83.6%	.162	
	No	19.2%	15.4%	16.4%		
ACE inhibitors	Yes	55.4%	61.2%	59.6%	.105	
	No	44.6%	38.8%	40.4%		
Spiropolastopo	Yes	31.1%	41.7%	38.9%	.002	
spironolacione	No	68.9%	58.3%	61.1%		

Table 9: Association between gender and drug prescription

5.1 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Non-communicable diseases, including CAD, are the leading cause of deaths and are estimated to account for 43% of total adult deaths in South Africa (Mayosi et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2012). Atherosclerosis is a prerequisite for CAD and it has been shown that post revascularization this process progresses, hence the importance of optimal medical therapy (Hawn et al., 2013).

Adherence to guideline mandated therapy has been proven to improve mortality and other adverse cardiovascular outcomes, but we still see suboptimal prescription of therapy as low as 43% in some parts of the world (Serruys et al., 2009).

There are many contributors to paucity of guideline mandated prescription for ACS known as barriers to optimal medical therapy. These include health beliefs and low perceived need for therapy (Lauffenburger et al., 2020). The current study aimed to assess the adherence to guideline mandated therapy at CMJAH of patients admitted with ACS.

Similar to global trends, we observed that ACS mostly affects males compared to females with more than two thirds of our cohort being male. This is similar with a study by Yusuf et al that showed that males dominate the incidence of CAD globally (Yusuf et al., 2004b; Khan et al., 2013).

Acute coronary syndrome presentation in the different race groups was similar to what is described in studies such as the INTERHEART study, with white patients having the highest incidence and mixed race having the least. Interestingly, in the current study the percentage of black patients (19.8%) is considerably higher to that what has been previously reported in the African continent. This has been attributed to urbanisation and an increase in risk factor

profile (increase in obesity, diabetes, hypertension) among black patients (Mayosi et al., 2009). However, our findings are contrary to an American study of over 6000 ACS patients which found that African American females had the highest rates of ACS (Allabban, Hollander & Pines, 2017). This may highlight the biases of study reports due to location. For example, hospitals servicing neighbourhoods with more individuals of specific ancestry. However, we will need further data from more studies with longer periods, conducted across South Africa, as well as, meta-analyses to elucidate this.

The commonest risk factors were high blood pressure and smoking at 62% and 52% respectively, this is lower than what we have seen in a Canadian registry and a small Asian study with prevalence of high blood pressure and smoking at 89%, 39% and 74%, 67.8 % respectively (Oxner Adam et al., n.d.; Qanitha et al., 2019).

Patient characteristics that were associated with poor drug prescription include the female sex, older age, and creatinine levels. This is on par with most studies. Female sex as a factor is difficult to understand, but a small study by (Yan et al., 2007). demonstrated that females were less likely to get optimal medical therapy. In the current study this was more significant for prescription of clopidogrel, beta blockers, and spironolactone.

One can argue that older individuals tend to have comorbidities that affect prescription of drugs, renal failure being one of the most common comorbidities. We have seen this in a study done by Safwan et al where some of the factors affecting prescription to the elderly were heart failure, hypotension, bradycardia, and gastrointestinal bleeds (Safwan et al., 2017).

On the contrary, an Israeli study had younger patients less likely to adhere to medication, with interpersonal interactions and knowledge about drug side effects profile literature being the reason for low adherence (Hamood et al., 2015).

Defining what is an acceptable limit for adherence to medical therapy is difficult as patients have different factors that sometimes lead to nonadherence of certain drugs and sometimes the drug is not indicated. What we do know is that adherence tends to be higher in acute and obvious conditions like STEMI compared to UA and NSTEMI with this observation getting a sharp decline after 6 months (Jackevicius, Mamdani & Tu, 2002).

Prescription of medication is also affected by type of revascularization, with patients who get PCI more likely to get treatment compared to patients who undergo bypass surgery. In this instance it is likely that PCI patients are looked after by cardiologists who are more likely to be more knowledgeable about medical therapy compared to surgeons (Hlatky et al., 2013).

In our cohort we did not define the type of revascularization the patient underwent, however the fact that they were discharged from the department of cardiology means the cardiologists were the primary care givers.

The highest prescription was for aspirin and the lowest was for spironolactone. This can be explained by the fact that spironolactone is only recommended for patients with low left ventricular systolic function and patients with normal renal function.

The level of prescription and adherence to therapy was higher than most studies at 85% for aspirin and 38% for spironolactone. In the REACH registry aspirin use was at 76%, statins at 76% and beta blockers at 63% which is lower than what we recorded (Mehta et al., 2001). This could be as a result of the academic nature of our institution, which would imply that most

things are done according to the latest guidelines and most patients are seen by experts in the field and not by general physicians.

Creatinine levels above the normal range have been associated with limited drug prescription, especially for ACE-inhibitors, mainly because in renal failure these drugs are contraindicated. However, in our cohort we described a very unusual pattern, where patients who had low creatinine levels were less likely to get guideline indicated medication. It is possible that these are patients had low blood pressure and thus not prescribed guideline suggested therapy and secondly it could be related to drug sensitivity. Further research is needed.

Clopidogrel was less likely to be prescribed to patients with high creatinine levels. The reason behind this ispossibly that the physicians were concerned about the high bleeding risk in renal failure patients.

We are seeing more academic bodies emphasise the use of medical therapy after a myocardial event and we are seeing an improvement in drug prescription and adherence. This is evidenced by the STABILITY trial and EUROASPIRE, where drug prescription was above 90% for aspirin, statins and beta blockers. (Kotseva et al., 2009; White et al., 2010). This is a marked improvement from earlier studies like SYNTAX where adherence was documented at only 41.3%. (Serruys et al., 2009). The current study data is from around the same period when SYNTAX was reported, so the adherence in the current study to guideline recommended therapies being above 80% for most drugs is excellent, but there is always room for improvement.

The SYNTAX trial had a low adherence to guideline recommended therapies for patients with comorbidities like renal failure, heart failure and COPD compared to patients with just one risk factor and no other organ involvement (Serruys et al., 2009). These findings are similar to findings in the current study

30

Part of the reason for non-adherence is polypharmacy, which has been shown to have a negative impact on adherence for many reasons, like drug interactions and patients getting discouraged by taking many pills (Gnjidic et al., 2015). However, we do know that mortality benefit was improved with combination therapy as compared to individual drugs as shown in the PREVENT IV trial, with the exception of antiplatelet drugs (Goyal et al., 2007).

In terms of the type of ACS, STEMI patients received more drugs compared to NSTEMI and UA. This is similar to another report which showed that STEMI patients received more comprehensive treatment compared to other types of ACS (Tra et al., 2015). The postulated reasons for this are that most people tend to underestimate the critical nature or the seriousness of NSTEMI and UA and that STEMI patients tend to be sicker compared to other patients.

The mortality rate in our study was lower than the reported rates in previous studies. We observed that 96% of patients who survived received guideline recommended optimal medical therapy versus those patients who died mostly did not receive optimal medical therapy. However, mortality rates are related to additional comorbidities, severe illness and complexity. Thus, the low mortality rate in the current study could be the absence of additional comorbidities and complexity during the sampling period of the study.

In summary, this study has shown that at the time of study, there was a high level of administration and adherence to optimal medical therapy guidelines at CMJAH for ACS cases. We also observed this to co-segregate with a low mortality rate. In comparison to previously reported studies on ACS, this study has shown that patients at CMJAH receive appropriate medical therapy on discharge. For CMJAH, we hope that the high adherence rate to guideline recommended therapies and low mortality rate will be maintained over time and strongly recommend ongoing future audits.

5.2 STUDY LIMITATIONS

This study had a few limitations. This study is only a single center audit; thus, its generalizability is limited. Some variables excluded were linked to putative ACS diagnostic assessment criteria such as ECG results, as well as measurement of adherence using pill count. However, the recorded cardiac enzyme elevation, clinical presentation and recorded ECG changes make it highly likely that the diagnostic criteria for ACS diagnosis were robust. Being a retrospective analysis some putative variables that were excluded were a result of using stringent quality control thresholds on our retrospective study data, which excluded variables with >5% missingness or incorrect values. The other limitations reflect the common weaknesses of the public health facilities and their supporting structures. I also did not have information on contraindications and reasons for not prescribing certain drugs. This study also performed data analyses on a secondary database used to capture existing clinical and NHLS laboratory data collected for CMJAH. As a result, some medical tests during hospital visits were not routinely tested/recorded, such as HIV status, HBA1C. Also, the patient database was not designed to assist with patient follow-ups nor assist in reporting beyond short-term patient outcomes in the hospital.

REFERENCES

Aldous, S.J. 2013. Cardiac biomarkers in acute myocardial infarction. *International Journal of Cardiology*. 164(3):282–294. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.01.081.

Allabban, A., Hollander, J.E. & Pines, J.M. 2017. Gender, race and the presentation of acute coronary syndrome and serious cardiopulmonary diagnoses in ED patients with chest pain. *Emergency Medicine Journal*. 34(10):653. DOI: 10.1136/emermed-2016-206104.

Ambrose, J.A. & Barua, R.S. 2004. The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: An update. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 43(10):1731–1737. DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2003.12.047.

Antithrombotic Trialists' (ATT) Collaboration. 2009. Aspirin in the primary and secondary prevention of vascular disease: collaborative meta-analysis of individual participant data from randomised trials. *The Lancet*. 373(9678):1849–1860. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60503-1.

Antman Elliott M., Armstrong Paul Wayne, Bates Eric R., Green Lee A., Hand Mary, Hochman Judith S., Krumholz Harlan M., Kushner Frederick G., et al. 2004. ACC/AHA Guidelines for the Management of Patients With ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction—Executive Summary. *Circulation*. 110(5):588–636. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000134791.68010.FA.

de Araújo Gonçalves, P., Ferreira, J., Aguiar, C. & Seabra-Gomes, R. 2005. TIMI, PURSUIT, and GRACE risk scores: sustained prognostic value and interaction with revascularization in NSTE-ACS. *European Heart Journal*. 26(9):865–872. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi187.

Barbash G I, White H D, Modan M, Diaz R, Hampton J R, Heikkila J, Kristinsson A, Moulopoulos S, et al. 1993. Significance of smoking in patients receiving thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction. Experience gleaned from the International Tissue Plasminogen Activator/Streptokinase Mortality Trial. *Circulation*. 87(1):53–58. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.87.1.53.

Benjamin Emelia J., Blaha Michael J., Chiuve Stephanie E., Cushman Mary, Das Sandeep R., Deo Rajat, de Ferranti Sarah D., Floyd James, et al. 2017. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 135(10):e146–e603. DOI: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000485.

Boutayeb, A. 2006. The double burden of communicable and non-communicable diseases in developing countries. *Transactions of The Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*. 100(3):191–199. DOI: 10.1016/j.trstmh.2005.07.021.

Cade, J. & Margetts, B. 1989. Cigarette smoking and serum lipid and lipoprotein concentrations. *British Medical Journal*. 298(6683):1312. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.298.6683.1312-a. Cairns, J.A., Gent, M., Singer, J., Finnie, K.J., Froggatt, G.M., Holder, D.A., Jablonsky, G., Kostuk, W.J., et al. 1985. Aspirin, Sulfinpyrazone, or Both in Unstable Angina. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 313(22):1369–1375. DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198511283132201.

Camm, A.J., De Caterina, R., Savelieva, I., Atar, D., Hohnloser, S.H., Hindricks, G., Kirchhof, P., ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG), et al. 2012. 2012 focused update of the ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: An update of the 2010 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillationDeveloped with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association. *European Heart Journal*. 33(21):2719–2747. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs253.

Cannon, C.P. 2002. Effectiveness of clopidogrel versus aspirin in preventing acute myocardial infarction in patients with symptomatic atherothrombosis (CAPRIE trial). *American Journal of Cardiology*. 90(7):760–762. DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9149(02)02606-1.

Cannon, C.P., Steinberg, B.A., Murphy, S.A., Mega, J.L. & Braunwald, E. 2006. Meta-Analysis of Cardiovascular Outcomes Trials Comparing Intensive Versus Moderate Statin Therapy. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 48(3):438–445. DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.04.070.

Chen, Z.M., Pan, H.C., Chen, Y.P., Peto, R., Collins, R., Jiang, L.X., Xie, J.X., Liu, L.S., et al. 2005. Early intravenous then oral metoprolol in 45,852 patients with acute myocardial infarction: randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet (London, England)*. 366(9497):1622–1632. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67661-1.

Davies, M.J. 2000. The pathophysiology of acute coronary syndromes. *Heart*. 83(3):361. DOI: 10.1136/heart.83.3.361.

Dhingra, R. & Vasan, R.S. 2012. Age As a Risk Factor. *Medical Clinics*. 96(1):87–91. DOI: 10.1016/j.mcna.2011.11.003.

van Domburg, R.T., Meeter, K., van Berkel, D.F.M., Veldkamp, R.F., van Herwerden, L.A. & Bogers, A.J.J.C. 2000. Smoking cessation reduces mortality after coronary artery bypass surgery: a 20-year follow-up study. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 36(3):878–883. DOI: 10.1016/S0735-1097(00)00810-X.

Eckel Robert H., York David A., Rössner Stephan, Hubbard Van, Caterson Ian, St. Jeor Sachiko T., Hayman Laura L., Mullis Rebecca M., et al. 2004. Prevention Conference VII. *Circulation*. 110(18):2968–2975. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000140086.88453.9A.

Fox, K.A.A., Steg, P.G., Eagle, K.A., Goodman, S.G., Anderson, F.A., Granger, C.B., Flather, M.D., Budaj, A., et al. 2007. Decline in Rates of Death and Heart Failure in Acute Coronary Syndromes, 1999-2006. *JAMA*. 297(17):1892–1900. DOI: 10.1001/jama.297.17.1892.

Fox Keith A.A., Mehta Shamir R., Peters Ron, Zhao Feng, Lakkis Nasser, Gersh Bernard J. & Yusuf Salim. 2004. Benefits and Risks of the Combination of Clopidogrel and Aspirin in Patients Undergoing Surgical Revascularization for Non–ST-Elevation Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Circulation*. 110(10):1202–1208. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000140675.85342.1B.

Fuster, V., Badimon, L., Badimon, J.J. & Chesebro, J.H. 1992. The Pathogenesis of Coronary Artery Disease and the Acute Coronary Syndromes. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 326(4):242–250. DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199201233260406.

Genest J J, Martin-Munley S S, McNamara J R, Ordovas J M, Jenner J, Myers R H, Silberman S R, Wilson P W, et al. 1992. Familial lipoprotein disorders in patients with premature coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. 85(6):2025–2033. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.85.6.2025.

Gerstein, H.C. 1999. Is glucose a continuous risk factor for cardiovascular mortality? *Diabetes Care*. 22(5):659. DOI: 10.2337/diacare.22.5.659.

Gitt, A.K. & Betriu, A. 2008. Antiplatelet therapy in acute coronary syndromes. *European Heart Journal Supplements*. 10(suppl_A):A4–A12. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/sum078.

Gnjidic, D., Bennett, A., Le Couteur, D.G., Blyth, F.M., Cumming, R.G., Waite, L., Handelsman, D., Naganathan, V., et al. 2015. Ischemic heart disease, prescription of optimal medical therapy and geriatric syndromes in community-dwelling older men: A population-based study. *International Journal of Cardiology*. 192:49–55. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.05.045.

Goyal, A., Alexander, J.H., Hafley, G.E., Graham, S.H., Mehta, R.H., Mack, M.J., Wolf, R.K., Cohn, L.H., et al. 2007. Outcomes Associated With the Use of Secondary Prevention Medications After Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery. *The Annals of Thoracic Surgery*. 83(3):993–1001. DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2006.10.046.

Griselli, M., Herbert, J., Hutchinson, W.L., Taylor, K.M., Sohail, M., Krausz, T. & Pepys, M.B. 1999. C-Reactive Protein and Complement Are Important Mediators of Tissue Damage in Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 190(12):1733–1740. DOI: 10.1084/jem.190.12.1733.

Hamood, H., Hamood, R., Green, M.S. & Almog, R. 2015. Effect of adherence to evidence-based therapy after acute myocardial infarction on all-cause mortality. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*. 24(10):1093–1104. DOI: 10.1002/pds.3840.

Hawn, M.T., Graham, L.A., Richman, J.S., Itani, K.M.F., Henderson, W.G. & Maddox, T.M. 2013. Risk of Major Adverse Cardiac Events Following Noncardiac Surgery in Patients With Coronary Stents. *JAMA*. 310(14):1462–1472. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2013.278787.

Hlatky, M.A., Solomon, M.D., Shilane, D., Leong, T.K., Brindis, R. & Go, A.S. 2013. Use of Medications for Secondary Prevention After Coronary Bypass Surgery Compared With Percutaneous Coronary

Intervention. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 61(3):295. DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.10.018.

Ho, S.S., Dhaliwal, S.S., Hills, A.P. & Pal, S. 2012. The effect of 12 weeks of aerobic, resistance or combination exercise training on cardiovascular risk factors in the overweight and obese in a randomized trial. *BMC Public Health*. 12(1):704. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-704.

Jackevicius, C.A., Mamdani, M. & Tu, J.V. 2002. Adherence With Statin Therapy in Elderly Patients With and Without Acute Coronary Syndromes. *JAMA*. 288(4):462–467. DOI: 10.1001/jama.288.4.462.

Jee, S.H., Suh, I., Kim, I.S. & Appel, L.J. 1999. Smoking and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in Men With Low Levels of Serum CholesterolThe Korea Medical Insurance Corporation Study. *JAMA*. 282(22):2149–2155. DOI: 10.1001/jama.282.22.2149.

Jensen Michael D., Ryan Donna H., Apovian Caroline M., Ard Jamy D., Comuzzie Anthony G., Donato Karen A., Hu Frank B., Hubbard Van S., et al. 2014. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS Guideline for the Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. *Circulation*. 129(25_suppl_2):S102–S138. DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.0000437739.71477.ee.

Jousilahti Pekka, Vartiainen Erkki, Tuomilehto Jaakko & Puska Pekka. 1999. Sex, Age, Cardiovascular Risk Factors, and Coronary Heart Disease. *Circulation*. 99(9):1165–1172. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.9.1165.

Khan, N.A., Daskalopoulou, S.S., Karp, I., Eisenberg, M.J., Pelletier, R., Tsadok, M.A., Dasgupta, K., Norris, C.M., et al. 2013. Sex Differences in Acute Coronary Syndrome Symptom Presentation in Young Patients. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 173(20):1863–1871. DOI: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.10149.

Klug, E., Raal, F.J., Marais, A.D., Smuts, C.M., Schamroth, C., Jankelow, D., Blom, D.J. & Webb, D.A. 2018. South African dyslipidaemia guideline consensus statement: 2018 update A joint statement from the South African Heart Association (SA Heart) and the Lipid and Atherosclerosis Society of Southern Africa (LASSA). *South African Medical Journal; South African Dyslipidaemia Guideline Consensus Statement 2018 Update*. Available: http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/12479.

Kontos, M.C., Diercks, D.B., Ho, P.M., Wang, T.Y., Chen, A.Y. & Roe, M.T. 2011. Treatment and outcomes in patients with myocardial infarction treated with acute β-blocker therapy: Results from the American College of Cardiology's NCDR[®]. *American Heart Journal*. 161(5):864–870. DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2011.01.006.

Kotseva, K., Wood, D., Backer, G.D., Bacquer, D.D., Pyörälä, K. & Keil, U. 2009. EUROASPIRE III: a survey on the lifestyle, risk factors and use of cardioprotective drug therapies in coronary patients

from 22 European countries. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*. 16(2):121–137. DOI: 10.1097/HJR.0b013e3283294b1d.

Kumar, A. & Cannon, C.P. 2009. Acute Coronary Syndromes: Diagnosis and Management, Part I. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 84(10):917–938. DOI: 10.4065/84.10.917.

Larsson, B., Bengtsson, C., Björntorp, P., Lapidus, L., Sjöstrom, L., Svardsudd, K., Tlbblin, G., Wedel, H., et al. 1992. Is Abdominal Body Fat Distribution a Major Explanation for the Sex Difference in the Incidence of Myocardial Infarction?: The Study of Men Born in 1913 and The Study of Women, Göteborg, Sweden. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 135(3):266–273. DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116280.

Lauffenburger, J.C., Isaac, T., Bhattacharya, R., Sequist, T.D., Gopalakrishnan, C. & Choudhry, N.K. 2020. Prevalence and Impact of Having Multiple Barriers to Medication Adherence in Nonadherent Patients With Poorly Controlled Cardiometabolic Disease. *The American Journal of Cardiology*. 125(3):376–382. DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2019.10.043.

Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E.J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S.N. & Katzmarzyk, P.T. 2012. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *The Lancet*. 380(9838):219–229. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61031-9.

Lim, S.H., Wee, J. & Anantharaman, V. 2013. Management of STEMI. *Current Emergency and Hospital Medicine Reports*. 1(1):29–36. DOI: 10.1007/s40138-012-0005-z.

Manga, P. 2008. The challenge of acute coronary syndromes in South Africa. *SA Heart Journal*. 5(2):50–51. DOI: 10.24170/5-2-2044.

Mayosi, B.M., Flisher, A.J., Lalloo, U.G., Sitas, F., Tollman, S.M. & Bradshaw, D. 2009. The burden of non-communicable diseases in South Africa. *The Lancet*. 374(9693):934–947. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61087-4.

Mehta, S.R., Yusuf, S., Peters, R.J., Bertrand, M.E., Lewis, B.S., Natarajan, M.K., Malmberg, K., Rupprecht, H.-J., et al. 2001. Effects of pretreatment with clopidogrel and aspirin followed by long-term therapy in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the PCI-CURE study. *The Lancet*. 358(9281):527–533. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05701-4.

Mirrahimi Arash, de Souza Russell J., Chiavaroli Laura, Sievenpiper John L., Beyene Joseph, Hanley Anthony J., Augustin Livia S. A., Kendall Cyril W. C., et al. n.d. Associations of Glycemic Index and Load With Coronary Heart Disease Events: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohorts. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 1(5):e000752. DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.112.000752.

Miura, K., Daviglus, M.L., Dyer, A.R., Liu, K., Garside, D.B., Stamler, J. & Greenland, P. 2001. Relationship of Blood Pressure to 25-Year Mortality Due to Coronary Heart Disease, Cardiovascular Diseases, and All Causes in Young Adult Men: The Chicago Heart Association Detection Project in Industry. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 161(12):1501–1508. DOI: 10.1001/archinte.161.12.1501.

Muntner, P., Whittle, J., Lynch, A.I., Colantonio, L.D., Simpson, L.M., Einhorn, P.T., Levitan, E.B., Whelton, P.K., et al. 2015. Visit-to-Visit Variability of Blood Pressure and Coronary Heart Disease, Stroke, Heart Failure, and Mortality: A Cohort Study. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 163(5):329–338. DOI: 10.7326/M14-2803.

Nichols, M., Townsend, N., Scarborough, P. & Rayner, M. 2014. Cardiovascular disease in Europe 2014: epidemiological update. *European Heart Journal*. 35(42):2950–2959. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu299.

Oster, G. & Epstein, A.M. 1987. Cost-effectiveness of Antihyperlipemic Therapy in the Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease: The Case of Cholestyramine. *JAMA*. 258(17):2381–2387. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1987.03400170067025.

Oxner Adam, Elbaz-Greener Gabby, Qui Feng, Masih Shannon, Zivkovic Nevena, Alnasser Sami, Cheema Asim N. & Wijeysundera Harindra C. n.d. Variations in Use of Optimal Medical Therapy in Patients With Nonobstructive Coronary Artery Disease: A Population-Based Study. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 6(11):e007526. DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.117.007526.

Pan, P., An, Sun, M., ScD, Qi, Bernstein, M., ScD, Adam M., Schulze, D., Matthias B., Manson, M., DrPH, JoAnn E., Stampfer, M., DrPH, Meir J., Willett, M., DrPH, Walter C. & Hu, M., PhD, Frank B. 2012. Red Meat Consumption and Mortality: Results From 2 Prospective Cohort Studies. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 172(7):555–563. DOI: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.2287.

Patel, J., Al Rifai, M., Scheuner, M.T., Shea, S., Blumenthal, R.S., Nasir, K., Blaha, M.J. & McEvoy, J.W. 2018. Basic vs More Complex Definitions of Family History in the Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. 93(9):1213–1223. DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.01.014.

Peer, N., Steyn, K., Dennison, C.R., Levitt, N.S., Nyo, M.T.L., Nel, J.H., Commerford, P.J., Fourie, J.M., et al. 2008. Determinants of Target Organ Damage in Black Hypertensive Patients Attending Primary Health Care Services in Cape Town: The Hi-Hi Study. *American Journal of Hypertension*. 21(8):896–902. DOI: 10.1038/ajh.2008.210.

Pilote, L., Abrahamowicz, M., Rodrigues, E., Eisenberg, M.J. & Rahme, E. 2004. Mortality Rates in Elderly Patients Who Take Different Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors after Acute Myocardial Infarction: A Class Effect? *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 141(2):102–112. DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-141-2-200407200-00008.

Powell, K.E., Thompson, P.D., Caspersen, C.J. & Kendrick, J.S. 1987. Physical Activity and the Incidence of Coronary Heart Disease. *Annual Review of Public Health*. 8(1):253–287. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.pu.08.050187.001345.

Qanitha, A., Uiterwaal, C.S.P.M., Henriques, J.P.S., Mappangara, I., Amir, M., Saing, S.G. & de Mol, B.A.J.M. 2019. Adherence to guideline recommendations for coronary angiography in a poor South-East Asian setting: Impact on short- and medium-term clinical outcomes. *Scientific Reports*. 9(1):19163. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-55299-0.

Rapsomaniki, E., Timmis, A., George, J., Pujades-Rodriguez, M., Shah, A.D., Denaxas, S., White, I.R., Caulfield, M.J., et al. 2014. Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people. *The Lancet*. 383(9932):1899–1911. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60685-1.

Reaven, G.M. 2003. Insulin Resistance/Compensatory Hyperinsulinemia, Essential Hypertension, and Cardiovascular Disease. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 88(6):2399–2403. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2003-030087.

Rimm, E.B., Ascherio, A., Giovannucci, E., Spiegelman, D., Stampfer, M.J. & Willett, W.C. 1996. Vegetable, Fruit, and Cereal Fiber Intake and Risk of Coronary Heart Disease Among Men. *JAMA*. 275(6):447–451. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1996.03530300031036.

Roger Véronique L., Go Alan S., Lloyd-Jones Donald M., Adams Robert J., Berry Jarett D., Brown Todd M., Carnethon Mercedes R., Dai Shifan, et al. 2011. Executive Summary: Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2011 Update. *Circulation*. 123(4):459–463. DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31820c7a50. Rozanski Alan, Blumenthal James A. & Kaplan Jay. 1999. Impact of Psychological Factors on the Pathogenesis of Cardiovascular Disease and Implications for Therapy. *Circulation*. 99(16):2192–2217. DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.16.2192.

Ruiz-Bailén, M., de Hoyos, E.A., Reina-Toral, A., Torres-Ruiz, J.M., Álvarez-Bueno, M. & Gómez Jiménez, F.J. 2004. Paradoxical Effect of Smoking in the Spanish Population With Acute Myocardial Infarction or Unstable Angina: Results of the ARIAM Register. *Chest.* 125(3):831–840. DOI: 10.1378/chest.125.3.831.

Safwan, J., Hamwi, H., Shamseddine, L., Sakr, F., Cherfan, M., EL Akel, M., Dabbous, M. & Saade, F. 2017. Evaluation of the Adherence to the Discharge Management for Secondary Prevention of Acute Coronary Syndrome in Lebanon. *Journal of Cardiology & Clinical Research*. 5:1097.

Sandvik, L., Erikssen, J., Thaulow, E., Erikssen, G., Mundal, R. & Rodahl, K. 1993. Physical Fitness as a Predictor of Mortality among Healthy, Middle-Aged Norwegian Men. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 328(8):533–537. DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199302253280803.

Santos-Gallego, C.G., Picatoste, B. & Badimón, J.J. 2014. Pathophysiology of Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*. 16(4):401. DOI: 10.1007/s11883-014-0401-9.

Santo-Tomas, M., Lopez-Jimenez, F., Machado, H., Aldrich, H.R., Lamas, G.A. & Lieberman, E.H. 2002. Effect of cigar smoking on endothelium-dependent brachial artery dilation in healthy young adults. *American Heart Journal*. 143(1):83–86. DOI: 10.1067/mhj.2002.119765.

Serruys, P.W., Morice, M.-C., Kappetein, A.P., Colombo, A., Holmes, D.R., Mack, M.J., Ståhle, E., Feldman, T.E., et al. 2009. Percutaneous Coronary Intervention versus Coronary-Artery Bypass Grafting for Severe Coronary Artery Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 360(10):961–972. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0804626.

Sesso Howard D., Lee I-Min, Gaziano J. Michael, Rexrode Kathryn M., Glynn Robert J. & Buring Julie E. 2001. Maternal and Paternal History of Myocardial Infarction and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Men and Women. *Circulation*. 104(4):393–398. DOI: 10.1161/hc2901.093115.

Shah, P.K. 2003. Mechanisms of plaque vulnerability and rupture. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*. 41(4, Supplement):S15–S22. DOI: 10.1016/S0735-1097(02)02834-6.

Shimony, A., Grandi, S.M., Pilote, L., Joseph, L., O'Loughlin, J., Paradis, G., Rinfret, S., Sarrafzadegan, N., et al. 2014. Utilization of Evidence-Based Therapy for Acute Coronary Syndrome in High-Income and Low/Middle-Income Countries. *The American Journal of Cardiology*. 113(5):793–797. DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.11.024.

Singer, D.E., Nathan, D.M., Anderson, K.M., Wilson, P.W.F. & Evans, J.C. 1992. Association of HbA_{1c} With Prevalent Cardiovascular Disease in the Original Cohort of the Framingham Heart Study. *Diabetes*. 41(2):202. DOI: 10.2337/diab.41.2.202.

Smith, S.W. & Whitwam, W. 2006. Acute Coronary Syndromes. *The ECG in Emergency Medicine*. 24(1):53–89. DOI: 10.1016/j.emc.2005.08.008.

Stamler, J., Stamler, R., Neaton, J.D., Wentworth, D., Daviglus, M.L., Garside, D., Dyer, A.R., Liu, K., et al. 1999. Low Risk-Factor Profile and Long-term Cardiovascular and Noncardiovascular Mortality and Life ExpectancyFindings for 5 Large Cohorts of Young Adult and Middle-Aged Men and Women. *JAMA*. 282(21):2012–2018. DOI: 10.1001/jama.282.21.2012.

Swedberg, K., Held, P., Kjekshus, J., Rasmussen, K., Rydén, L. & Wedel, H. 1992. Effects of the Early Administration of Enalapril on Mortality in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 327(10):678–684. DOI: 10.1056/NEJM199209033271002.

"Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) Final Report". 2002. *Circulation*. 106(25):3143–3143. DOI: 10.1161/circ.106.25.3143.

Thom Thomas, Haase Nancy, Rosamond Wayne, Howard Virginia J., Rumsfeld John, Manolio Teri, Zheng Zhi-Jie, Flegal Katherine, et al. 2006. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2006 Update. *Circulation*. 113(6):e85–e151. DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.171600.

Thygesen, K., Alpert, J.S., White, H.D., Jaffe, A.S., Apple, F.S., Galvani, M., Katus, H.A., Newby, L.K., et al. 2007. Universal definition of myocardial infarction: Kristian Thygesen, Joseph S. Alpert and Harvey D. White on behalf of the Joint ESC/ACCF/AHA/WHF Task Force for the Redefinition of Myocardial Infarction. *European Heart Journal*. 28(20):2525–2538. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehm355. Tra, J., van der Wulp, I., Appelman, Y., de Bruijne, M.C. & Wagner, C. 2015. Adherence to guidelines for the prescription of secondary prevention medication at hospital discharge after acute coronary syndrome: a multicentre study. *Netherlands Heart Journal*. 23(4):214–221. DOI: 10.1007/s12471-015-0664-y.

Vaccaro, O., Eberly, L.E., Neaton, J.D., Yang, L., Riccardi, G., Stamler, J. & for the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT) Research Group. 2004. Impact of Diabetes and Previous Myocardial Infarction on Long-term Survival: 25-Year Mortality Follow-up of Primary Screenees of the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 164(13):1438–1443. DOI: 10.1001/archinte.164.13.1438.

Van de Werf, F., Betriu, A., Blomstrom-Lundqvist, C., Crea, F., Falk, V., Filippatos, G., Fox, K., Huber, K., et al. 2008. Management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with persistent ST-segment elevation: The Task Force on the management of ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction of the European Society of Cardiology: *European Heart Journal*. 29(23):2909–2945. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehn416.

Vasan, R.S., Sullivan, L.M., Wilson, P.W.F., Sempos, C.T., Sundström, J., Kannel, W.B., Levy, D. & D'Agostino, R.B. 2005. Relative Importance of Borderline and Elevated Levels of Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 142(6):393–402. DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-142-6-200503150-00005.

Virmani, R., Burke, A.P., Farb, A. & Kolodgie, F.D. 2006. Pathology of the Vulnerable Plaque. *Detection of Vulnerable Plaques*. 47(8, Supplement):C13–C18. DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.10.065. Wells, A.J. 1994. Passive smoking as a cause of heart disease. *Bethesda Conference: Future Personnel Needs for Cardiovascular Health Care*. 24(2):546–554. DOI: 10.1016/0735-1097(94)90315-8.

White, H., Held, C., Stewart, R., Watson, D., Harrington, R., Budaj, A., Steg, Ph.G., Cannon, C.P., et al. 2010. Study design and rationale for the clinical outcomes of the STABILITY Trial (STabilization of Atherosclerotic plaque By Initiation of darapLadIb TherapY) comparing darapladib versus placebo in patients with coronary heart disease. *American Heart Journal*. 160(4):655-661.e2. DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.07.006.

Wilson Peter W.F., Bozeman Samuel R., Burton Tanya M., Hoaglin David C., Ben-Joseph Rami & Pashos Chris L. 2008. Prediction of First Events of Coronary Heart Disease and Stroke With Consideration of Adiposity. *Circulation*. 118(2):124–130. DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.772962.

Windecker, S., Alfonso, F., Collet, J.-P., Cremer, J., Falk, V., Filippatos, G., Hamm, C., Head, S.J., et al. 2014. 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS)Developed with the special contribution of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI). *European Heart Journal*. 35(37):2541–2619. DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu278.

World Health Organization. 2012. 2012 global progress report on implementation of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/79170.

Yan, A.T., Yan, R.T., Tan, M., Huynh, T., Soghrati, K., Brunner, L.J., DeYoung, P., Fitchett, D.H., et al. 2007. Optimal medical therapy at discharge in patients with acute coronary syndromes: Temporal changes, characteristics, and 1-year outcome. *American Heart Journal*. 154(6):1108–1115. DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2007.07.040.

Yan, A.T., Yan, R.T., Huynh, T., Casanova, A., Raimondo, F.E., Fitchett, D.H., Langer, A., Goodman, S.G., et al. 2009. Understanding Physicians' Risk Stratification of Acute Coronary Syndromes: Insights From the Canadian ACS 2 Registry. *Archives of Internal Medicine*. 169(4):372–378. DOI: 10.1001/archinternmed.2008.563.

Yun, D.D. & Alpert, J.S. 1997. Acute Coronary Syndromes. *Cardiology*. 88(3):223–237. DOI: 10.1159/000177335.

Yusuf, S., Zhao, F., Mehta, S.R., Chrolavicius, S., Tognoni, G., Fox, K.K. & Clopidogrel in Unstable Angina to Prevent Recurrent Events Trial Investigators. 2001. Effects of clopidogrel in addition to aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndromes without ST-segment elevation. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. 345(7):494–502. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa010746.

Yusuf, S., Hawken, S., Ôunpuu, S., Dans, T., Avezum, A., Lanas, F., McQueen, M., Budaj, A., et al. 2004a. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *The Lancet*. 364(9438):937–952. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17018-9.

Zavaroni, I., Bonora, E., Pagliara, M., Dall'Aglio, E., Luchetti, L., Buonanno, G., Bonati, P.A., Bergonzani, M., et al. 1989. Risk Factors for Coronary Artery Disease in Healthy Persons with Hyperinsulinemia and Normal Glucose Tolerance. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 320(11):702– 706. DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198903163201105.

Appendix 1: Data collection Sheet

DATA COLLECTION SHEET							
Management and Outcome of Acute Coronary Syndromes at							
	Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg						
	Academic Hospital						
Degree:			•				
MMed (Internal Medi	cine)						
Student Name:							
Dr. V Mtwesi							
Supervisors:							
Prof. P. Manga MB B	Ch FCP (S	SA) PhD I	FRCP				
Dr. A. Vachiat MB BC	Ch FCP (SA	A) MMed	(Internal Medicine)				
			DEMOGRAPHIC DAT	A			
Date of Admission:				Discharge Date:			
Dute of Admission.	Dav	Mon	Year	Discharge Date.	Dav	Mon	Year
Age of Participante:			Date of Birth:	_			
	Number				Day	Mon	Year
Gender:			Race:	African	1		
Male	1			White	2		
Fomolo	2			Coloured	2		
Missina	2	-		Indian	3 4		
Wissing	J			Missina	5		
	TYPE	OF AC	JTE CORONARY S	YNDROME (ACS)			
				- (/		T	
Type of AC5:						Treatment	
N-STEMI	1	1 = non-	ST segment elevation myoc	ardial infarction		PCI	1
N-STEMI UA	1 2	1 = non 2 = Unst	ST segment elevation myoco table angina	ardial infarction		PCI Thrombolytic	1 2
N-STEMI UA STEMI	1 2 3	1 = non $2 = Unst$ $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoco table angina egment elevation myocardic	ardial infarction Il infarction		PCI Thrombolytic	1 2
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication:	1 2 3	1 = non-2 = Unstands $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoco table angina egment elevation myocardio	ardial infarction Il infarction		PCI Thrombolytic	1 2
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB	1 2 3	1 = non-2 = Unsul3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myoco table angina egment elevation myocardic Blood Investigation	ardial infarction I infarction Result]	PCI Thrombolytic	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers	1 2 3 1 2	1 = non-2 = Unstands $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoco table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T	ardial infarction I infarction Result		Lipogram Trig	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin	1 2 3 1 2 3	1 = non-2 = Unsta3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB	ardial infarction I infarction Result		Lipogram Trig LDL	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins	1 2 3 1 2 3 4	1 = non $2 = Unsi$ $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardid Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea	ardial infarction I infarction Result		Lipogram Trig LDL HDL	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5	1 = non-2 = Unstands $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoco table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat	ardial infarction I infarction Result		Ireatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5	1 = non $2 = Unsi$ $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP	ardial infarction I infarction Result		Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non $2 = Unst$ $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP	Ardial infarction		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non $2 = Unst$ $3 = ST s$ LAD	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX	ardial infarction I infarction Result LVA		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non $2 = Unst$ $3 = ST s$	ST segment elevation myocardia table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN	Ardial infarction		Ireatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES	1 2 Result
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non- 2 = Unst 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myocardia table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	ardial infarction I infarction Result LVA AIRE No = 2		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES Unknown	1 2 Result T NO
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non- 2 = Unst 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myocardia table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	Ardial infarction I infarction Result LVA LVA AIRE No = 2		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES Unknown	1 2 Result T NO
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non- 2 = Unsi 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myocardia table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	Ardial infarction I infarction Result LVA AIRE No = 2		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES	1 2 Result T NO
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido Angiogram Findings: Condition Smoking Diabetes Hypertension	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 RCA	1 = non- 2 = Unsi 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	ardial infarction il infarction Result LVA AIRE No = 2		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol	1 2 Result T NO
N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido Angiogram Findings: Condition Smoking Diabetes Hypertension Dyslipidimia	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8	1 = non- 2 = Unst 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myoca table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	Ardial infarction		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES Unknown	1 2 Result T NO n = 3
Nype of ACS: N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido Angiogram Findings: Condition Smoking Diabetes Hypertension Dyslipidimia Family History	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 8 CA	1 = non- 2 = Unst 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myocardia table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	Ardial infarction		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES Unknown	1 2 Result NO n = 3
Nype of ACS: N-STEMI UA STEMI Discharge Medication: ACE Inhibitor/ARB Beta-blockers Aspirin Statins Clopido Angiogram Findings: Condition Smoking Diabetes Hypertension Dyslipidimia Family History Previous ACS	1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 8 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7	1 = non- 2 = Unsi 3 = ST s	ST segment elevation myocardia table angina egment elevation myocardia Blood Investigation Trop-T CKMB Urea Creat CRP CX HEALTH QUESTIONN Yes = 1	Ardial infarction I infarction Result LVA LVA AIRE No = 2		I reatment PCI Thrombolytic Lipogram Trig LDL HDL Tchol STEN YES Unknown	1 2 Result

Appendix 2: Ethics approval letter



R14/49 Dr Viwe Miteresi et al.

HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE (MEDICAL)

CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE NO. M140615

NAME: (Principal Investigator)	Dr Viwe Movesi et al			
DEPARTMENT:	Cardiology Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital			
PROJECT TITLE:	Adherence to Guideline Mandated Optimal Therapy in ACS Patients at Charlotte Maxeke Johannesburg Academic Hospital			
DATE CONSIDERED:	27/06/2014			
DECISION:	Approved unconditionally			
CONDITIONS:	(Title Change 27/02/2017)			
SUPERVISOR:	Dr A Vachiat and Prof P Manga			
APPROVED BY:	Professor P Cleaton-Jones, Chairperson, HREC (Medical)			
DATE OF APPROVAL: This clearance certificate is v	24/10/2014 alid for 5 years from date of approval. Extension may be applied for			

DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATORS

To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Secretary in Room 10004, 10th floor, Senate House, University.

We fully understand the conditions under which I amless are authorized to carry out the above-mentioned research and We undertake to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure be contemplated, from the research protocol as approved, these undertake to resubmit the

application to the Committee. Lagree to submit a yearfy progress report. The date for annual re-certification will be one year after the date of converted meeting where the study was initially reviewed, in this case, the study was initially review in November and will therefore be due in the menth of November each year. Unreported changes to the application may invalidate the clearance given by the HREC (Medical).

Principal Investigator Signature

Oute

PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES